

## King James's School Federation

## **POLICY STATEMENT**

## Behaviour for Learning, Suspension and Permanent Exclusion Policy

Policies last reviewed (date)	May 2025
Ratified by Governors (date)	May 2025
Next policy review due (date)	May 2026
Due for review by Governors (date)	May 2026
Staff Lead	Deputy Headteacher

#### MISSION STATEMENT:

This policy will support the school by being reflective of the Governors' direction and School's development plan. It will be used in an efficient and effective manner by committed to creating a mutually respectful environment where students and staff work together to promote our core values of Ready, Respectful, Engaged.

#### Significant revisions since the last review:

This policy has been combined with the Behaviour for Learning Exclusions Addendum in October 2024.

## Contents

	Page
Section 1: Our Vision for Behaviour	2
Section 2: A Relationship-based Approach: Regulate, relate, Repair	3
Section 3: Embedding our Core Vales in Daily Practice	3
Section 4: Our Commitment as Staff	3
Section 5: Responding to Behaviour that does not meet our values	4
Section 6: Whole-School Behaviour Support Systems:	4
Section 7: Supporting Students with SEND and SEMH	6
Section 8: Partnership with Parents and Carers	6
Section 9: Recognition and Rewards at King James's School	6
Section 10: Suspension Overview	7
Section 11: Suspension Legislation and Statutory Guidance	8
Section 12: Definitions and Types of Suspension	8
Section 13: Suspension / Exclusion as a Last Resort	9
Section 14: Grounds for Exclusion	9
Section 15: Suspension Protocol – Investigation	10
Section 16: Roles and Responsibilities	10
Section 17: Considering the reinstatement of a pupil	14
Section 18: Remote access to meetings	15
Section 19: Related School Policies	16

## Section 1. Our Vision for Behaviour:

At King James's School, Knaresborough, we believe that every student deserves the opportunity to thrive — academically, socially, and emotionally — in a safe, nurturing environment. Our approach to behaviour is student-centred and relationship-driven, placing human connection and emotional wellbeing at the heart of our school culture. At King James's School, we don't just manage behaviour — we build connection, create safety, and help every student succeed through strong relationships and consistent support.

Our expectations are shaped by three key values:

- Ready to learn, to participate, and to take responsibility.
- Respectful for oneself, others, and the school community.
- Engaged in learning, in relationships, and in personal growth.

We are committed to a culture of unconditional positive regard — meaning all students are treated with dignity, empathy, and consistency, regardless of their behaviour or circumstances.

# Section 2. A Relationship-Based Approach: Regulate, Relate, Repair.

We follow a restorative, student-centred ethos built on the cycle of Regulate, Relate, and Repair, which guides all adult responses to behaviour:

- Regulate: Helping students feel calm, safe, and emotionally ready to learn.
- Relate: Building trusting relationships through consistency, empathy and presence.
- Repair: Supporting students to understand the impact of their behaviour, take responsibility, and restore relationships and routines.

Staff use this model to support all students — recognising student behaviour as communication, and prioritising positive relational responses over punitive ones.

## Section 3. Embedding Our Core Values in Daily Practice.

#### **READY:**

- Students arrive on time, in correct uniform, and equipped for learning.
- Every student is met at the door by their teacher, setting a positive tone for the lesson.
- Students begin every lesson with a purposeful 'Do Now' task, which supports focus, structure, and readiness for learning.
- Lessons are ended with clear routines, enabling students to leave calmly and transition smoothly to the next learning space.

#### **RESPECTFUL:**

- Students are expected to treat all members of the school community with dignity, kindness and fairness.
- Students listen to the person who is talking, whether a peer or an adult, to create a respectful and inclusive learning environment.
- All staff model respectful, emotionally regulated responses to behaviour.

#### ENGAGED:

- Students are expected to participate actively in lessons, showing effort, curiosity and resilience.
- Staff plan lessons that are inclusive, purposeful and accessible.
- Emotional and behavioural engagement is supported through consistent routines, connection, and encouragement.

## Section 4. Our Commitment As Staff:

All staff are expected to:

- Build respectful, positive relationships with all students by upholding and modelling the values of Ready, Respectful and Engaged.
- Use calm, emotionally regulated responses when behaviour needs addressing.

- Greet students warmly at the door and start lessons with structured, engaging Do Now tasks.
- Ensure lessons finish in a calm and orderly way so students are prepared for their next session.
- Work restoratively with students to reflect and repair following incidents.

## Section 5. Responding to Behaviour That Does Not Meet Our Values:

We follow a clear, layered approach to behaviour support and intervention, underpinned by restoration and communication.

Classroom Behaviour Response Pathway

Teachers follow a stepped approach to support and manage classroom behaviour:

- 1. **Remind** Rule reminder.
- 2. Caution Verbal warning.
- 3. **Move** Relocate student within room or step outside for a brief conversation.
- 4. **Remove** Referral to departmental referral room.

Classroom Response Pathway:

i. Classroom Teacher:

- Uses proactive strategies to re-engage the student (e.g. reminder, caution, move and remove to departmental referral if necessary. This will also be supported by de-escalation and regular student check-ins).
- Leads restorative conversations where needed.
- Sets clear boundaries while maintaining connection.

ii. Head of Department (HoD):

- Supports with subject-specific concerns or repeated behaviour issues.
- May facilitate reflection time or academic interventions.
- Ensures expectations are reinforced consistently across the department.

iii. SLT Link for the Department:

- Provides strategic oversight and support for persistent or escalated concerns.
- Works in collaboration with the HoD and classroom teacher.
- Ensures alignment with whole-school policy and ethos.

Parents/Carers are engaged throughout this process as key partners in supporting improvement and understanding the root causes of behaviour.

## Section 6. Whole-School Behaviour Support Systems:

#### **Consequence System**

A positive, choice-driven system aimed at supporting learning and discouraging disruption.

#### **Pastoral Support:**

- D60 Detentions: Managed by Year Teams for pastoral concerns.
- Consequence Room (CR): A short-term, reflective space for students who need immediate support to de-escalate, re-engage and reflect on poor behaviour choices.
- Internal Exclusion Room (IER): A structured, supervised provision for more serious breaches of behaviour expectations. Students complete learning tasks and engage in restorative processes before reintegration.
  - Examples of immediate referral to the CR and/or IER room can be given for:
    - o Theft
    - o Violence or threatening behaviour towards others
    - o Persistent disruptive behaviour and/or refusal to comply with a reasonable request from staff
    - o Verbal abuse
    - Vaping and vaping by association
    - Refusing to hand over items which are not allowed in the school.

The above could equally be internal exclusion / fixed term suspension, dependent on the individual circumstances.

Suspensions and Exclusions: (explored further in Sections 10 to 19)

These measures are layered, structured, and used proportionately — with an emphasis on helping students understand, take responsibility and move forward.

#### Vaping Policy:

Vaping is prohibited on school grounds. Possession or suspected use will result in serious sanctions:

- Confiscation and disposal of vape products.
- Possible suspension, even for association or presence during vaping.

#### Mobile Phones and Personal Electronic Devices Policy:

At King James's School, we are committed to maintaining a focused, respectful, and inclusive learning environment, free from unnecessary distractions. To support this, we have clear expectations regarding the use of mobile phones, AirPods, and other personal electronic devices during the school day.

#### Expectations

- Mobile phones, AirPods, and similar devices must be switched off and kept completely out of sight as soon as students enter the school site in the morning. Staff can use their professional judgement about mobile phone use in lessons, but only to support learning.
- These devices must remain off and out of sight until the final bell at the end of the school day.
- This includes all indoor and outdoor areas of the school, including corridors, social spaces, and during break and lunchtime.

#### **Confiscation and Consequences**

If a student is seen using or handling a mobile phone, AirPods, or other personal device during the school day:

- The item will be confiscated by a member of staff.
- The confiscated item will be kept securely and returned to the student at the end of the school day.

#### For repeat offences:

• The device may be retained, and parents or carers will be required to come into school to collect it. Ongoing misuse may lead to further sanctions, including a review of the student's ability to

#### Emergencies

If a student needs to contact home during the day, they should go to their Year Team office or Reception, where support will be provided.

Parents and carers who need to reach their child during the school day should do so by contacting the school office directly

## Section 7. Supporting Students with SEND and SEMH:

We recognise that some students require additional support to manage their behaviour and engagement. Our SEMH Nurture Hub and Learning Support Team provide targeted interventions, including:

- Regulation strategies and emotional coaching.
- 1:1 or small group mentoring and alternative educational provision where appropriate.
- Individual behaviour and support plans co-created with families and professionals.

All behaviour responses are adapted to meet the needs of learners with SEND, particularly those with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs.

## Section 8. Partnership with Parents and Carers:

Positive, consistent communication with home is central to our approach. Parents and carers are:

- Regularly informed of both achievements and concerns.
- Invited to collaborate on behaviour support plans.
- Partners in restorative meetings when needed.
- Encouraged to reinforce the school's values of Ready, Respect, Engaged at home.
- Required to attend re-integration meetings prior to IER and following suspension.

## Section 9. Recognition and Rewards at King James's School:

At King James's School, we believe that recognising and celebrating positive behaviour is central to building a supportive, high-expectation culture where every student feels valued and motivated to succeed. We are committed to acknowledging the everyday efforts and achievements of our students, both in and beyond the classroom.

#### **Our Approach to Recognition**

We reward and celebrate students who consistently demonstrate our core values of being **Ready**, **Respectful**, **and Engaged**, as well as those who show:

- A positive attitude to learning and school life
- Strong attendance and punctuality
- Kindness, leadership, or service to others
- Personal growth and resilience

#### **Positive Recognition Systems**

We use a range of recognition strategies, including:

#### **Bromcom Achievement Points:**

Staff award points through Bromcom for behaviours that reflect our core values. These are tracked and celebrated throughout each learning cycle.

#### **Positive Phone Calls Home:**

Staff make regular positive phone calls or send messages home to recognise effort, progress, or outstanding behaviour. These moments help to build strong home-school partnerships and celebrate success directly with families.

#### **Rewards Assemblies (Each Learning Cycle):**

At the end of every learning cycle, we hold a **Rewards Assembly** to celebrate:

- High numbers of achievement points 0
- Consistent demonstration of being Ready, Respectful, and Engaged 0
- Excellent or improved attendance and punctuality о
- Notable contributions to the school community o

#### **Certificates, Postcards, and Recognition Events:**

Students may receive certificates, praise postcards, or be invited to special events as further recognition for their positive contribution to school life. Tracking and Celebration.

Bromcom allows both staff and students to view positive behaviour data, making achievements visible and accessible. Each Year Team regularly reviews data to ensure that recognition is fair, inclusive, and encouraging for all students.

## Section 10: Suspension Overview

We are committed to following all statutory exclusions procedures to ensure that every child receives an education in a safe and caring environment. Our school aims to:

- Ensure that the exclusions process is applied fairly and consistently.
- Help governors, staff, parents and pupils understand the exclusions process. •
- Ensure that pupils in school are safe and happy. •
- Prevent pupils from becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training). •
- Ensure all suspensions and permanent exclusions are carried out lawfully.

Accordingly, we will not suspend or exclude a pupil unlawfully by telling or forcing them to leave, or not allowing them to attend school without following the statutory procedure contained in the School Discipline (Pupil Exclusions and Reviews) (England) Regulations 2012, or formally recording the event.

Any suspension or exclusion will be made on disciplinary grounds, and will not be made:

- Because a pupil has special educational needs and/or a disability (SEND) that the school feels unable to support, or
- Due to a pupil's poor academic performance.

## Section 11: Legislation and Statutory Guidance

This policy is based on statutory guidance from the Department for Education: <u>Suspension and permanent</u> <u>exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England, including pupil movement - from</u> <u>September 2023</u>.

It is based on the following legislation, which outlines schools' powers to exclude pupils:

- Section 51a of the Education Act 2002, as amended by the Education Act 2011
- The School Discipline (Pupil Exclusions and Reviews) (England) Regulations 2012

In addition, the policy is based on:

- Part 7, chapter 2 of the <u>Education and Inspections Act 2006</u>, which sets out parental responsibility for excluded pupils
- Section 579 of the <u>Education Act 1996</u>, which defines 'school day'
- The Education (Provision of Full-Time Education for Excluded Pupils) (England) Regulations 2007, as amended by The Education (Provision of Full-Time Education for Excluded Pupils) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014
- The Equality Act 2010
- Children and Families Act 2014

## Section 12: Definitions and Types of Suspension

**Suspension** – when a pupil is removed from the school for a fixed period. This was previously referred to as a 'fixed-term exclusion'.

**Permanent exclusion** – when a pupil is removed from the school permanently and taken off the school roll. This is sometimes referred to as an 'exclusion'.

**Off-site direction** – when a governing board of a maintained school requires a pupil to attend another education setting temporarily, to improve their behaviour.

Parent – any person who has parental responsibility and any person who has care of the child.

**Managed move** – when a pupil is transferred to another school permanently. All parties, including parents and the admission authority for the new school, should consent before a managed move occurs.

**Fixed-Term Suspension (FTS)** - Fixed-Term Suspensions (FTS) will be for a fixed number of school days. An individual fixed period suspension should be for the shortest time necessary. They must not exceed 45 school days in an academic year as either a single suspension or a number of shorter suspensions added together.

**Permanent Exclusion (PEX)** - Permanent Exclusions (PEX) are issued when the Headteacher believes a pupil should never return to the school because they have seriously or persistently breached the school's behaviour policy and that allowing them to remain in school would seriously harm their education or welfare (or that of others in the school). This type of exclusion must be reviewed at a meeting by a panel of governors. The pupil and parent/carer will have the opportunity to put their case at the meeting, can be represented by someone who can speak on their behalf and can be supported by a friend, if they wish. If governors agree with the Headteacher's decision to permanently exclude the pupil, pupil and

parent/carer have a legal right to a further opportunity to challenge this decision via an Independent Review.

## Section 13: Suspension / Exclusion as a Last Resort

A pupil will be suspended/excluded from school only as a last resort and as a result of serious and/or persistent breaches of the school behaviour policy and where allowing them to remain in school would be of serious detriment to the education or welfare of the pupil or others in school.

Other options are always considered before resorting to an suspension/exclusion. The NYCC Ladder of Intervention provides structured, step-by-step guidance for schools to support individual pupils who have social and emotional needs manifesting in challenging behaviour that could lead to a suspension/exclusion. The guidance details a graduated response to ensure early help is in place to support children and young people with social, emotional and mental health needs, including those that are at risk of suspension/exclusion.

Before taking the decision to suspend/exclude, the Headteacher should consider the following:

- What whole-school approaches and provision are in place to support this pupil? e.g. whole school behaviour policy and inclusive practice to support behaviour for learning, quality first teaching, etc. Are school policies inclusive or do they discriminate against particular pupils with specific needs?
- What measures or strategies has the school put in place to support this specific pupil? e.g. behaviour plan, specific learning support, mental health and wellbeing advice, etc. Have support and intervention been put in place and has enough time been allowed for the intervention or support to take effect?
- If there have been multiple, repeat suspensions/exclusions for similar reasons (e.g. abusive behaviour, drug use, etc.) what has been put in place to successfully address the causes?
- What support has been sought from outside agencies, including the Local Authority? Through its universal and targeted provision, the LA provides access to a range of services. Has school accessed any of the following?
- > SEND guidance (for pupils with Special Educational Needs or a Disability)
- Ladder of Intervention
- SEND Assessment (leading to an Education Health and Care Plan)
- > Local Behaviour Collaborative or the Pupil Referral Service (PRS)
- > Referral to the Locality Hubs to support additional educational and/or social, emotional and mental health needs
- Advice and support from an Educational Psychologist, the Early Help Service, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), Youth Justice Service or Children's Social Care
- An Early Help (EH) Assessment and Action Plan

## Section 14: Grounds for Exclusion

In line with paragraph 16 of the statutory guidance, before excluding a pupil permanently, the Headteacher must be convinced that there is sufficient evidence that the pupil has committed a disciplinary offence and that allowing the pupil to remain in school would seriously harm the education or welfare of that pupil or others in the school.

## Section 15: Protocol – Investigation

Before deciding whether to suspend/exclude a pupil the Headteacher should:

- Make sure that a thorough investigation has been carried out, consulting others if necessary;
- Give the pupil a chance to say what happened;
- Think carefully about the evidence available;
- Ensure that the suspension/exclusion is for the shortest time necessary;
- Take into account the school's Behaviour and Equality Policies and, if appropriate, the Race Relations Act and Disability Discrimination Act;
- Check whether bullying or racial or sexual harassment (or any other coercion) led to their actions

## Section 16: Roles and Responsibilities

#### 16.1 The Headteacher

Deciding whether to suspend or exclude:

Only the headteacher, or acting headteacher, can suspend or permanently exclude a pupil from school on disciplinary grounds. The decision can be made in respect of behaviour inside or outside of school. The headteacher will only use permanent exclusion as a last resort.

A decision to suspend or exclude a pupil will be taken only:

- In response to serious or persistent breaches of the school's behaviour policy, and
- If allowing the pupil to remain in school would seriously harm the education or welfare of others

Before deciding whether to suspend or exclude a pupil, the headteacher will:

- Consider all the relevant facts and evidence on the balance of probabilities, including whether the incident(s) leading to the exclusion were provoked
- Allow the pupil to give their version of events
- Consider whether the pupil has special educational needs (SEN)
- Consider whether the pupil is especially vulnerable (e.g. the pupil has a social worker, or is a looked-after child (LAC))
- Consider whether all alternative solutions have been explored, such as off-site direction or managed moves

#### **Informing Parents:**

If a pupil is at risk of suspension or exclusion the headteacher will inform the parents/pupil as early as possible, in order to work together to consider what factors may be affecting the pupil's behaviour, and what further support can be put in place to improve the behaviour.

If the headteacher decides to suspend or exclude a pupil, the parents/pupil will be informed, in person or

by telephone, of the period of the suspension or exclusion and the reason(s) for it, without delay.

The parents/pupil will also be provided with the following information in writing, without delay:

- The reason(s) for the suspension or permanent exclusion
- The length of the suspension or, for a permanent exclusion, the fact that it is permanent.
- Information about the parents'/pupil's right to make representations about the suspension or permanent exclusion to the governing board and, where the pupil is attending alongside parents, how they may be involved in this.
- How any representations should be made.
- That parents/the pupil have the right to request that the meetings be held remotely, and how and to whom they should make this request

If the pupil is of compulsory school age, the headteacher will also notify parents without delay and by the end of the afternoon session on the first day, if possible, their child is suspended or permanently excluded, that:

- For the first 5 school days of an exclusion (or until the start date of any alternative provision or the end of the suspension, where this is earlier), the parents are legally required to ensure that their child is not present in a public place during school hours without a good reason. This will include specifying on which days this duty applies.
- Parents may be given a fixed penalty notice or prosecuted if they fail to do this.

If alternative provision is being arranged, the following information will be included, if possible:

- The start date for any provision of full-time education that has been arranged.
- The start and finish times of any such provision, including the times for morning and afternoon sessions, where relevant
- The address at which the provision will take place.
- Any information the pupil needs in order to identify the person they should report to on the first day.

If the headteacher does not have all the information about the alternative provision arrangements by the end of the afternoon session on the first day of the suspension or permanent exclusion, they can provide the information at a later date, without delay and no later than 48 hours before the provision is due to start.

The only exception to this is where alternative provision is to be provided before the sixth day of a suspension or permanent exclusion, in which case the school reserves the right to provide the information with less than 48 hours' notice, with parents' consent.

If the headteacher cancels the suspension or permanent exclusion, they will notify the parents/pupil without delay, and provide a reason for the cancellation.

#### Informing the governing board:

The headteacher will, without delay, notify the governing board of:

- Any permanent exclusion, including when a suspension is followed by a decision to permanently exclude a pupil.
- Any suspension or permanent exclusion which would result in the pupil being suspended or permanently excluded for a total of more than 5 school days (or more than 10 lunchtimes) in a term.
- Any suspension or permanent exclusion which would result in the pupil missing a National Curriculum test or public exam.

• Any suspension or permanent exclusion that has been cancelled, including the reason for the cancellation.

#### Informing the local authority (LA):

The headteacher will notify the LA of all suspensions and permanent exclusions without delay, regardless of the length of a suspension.

#### The notification will include:

- The reason(s) for the suspension or permanent exclusion
- The length of a suspension or, for a permanent exclusion, the fact that it is permanent

For a permanent exclusion, if the pupil lives outside the LA in which the school is located, the headteacher will also, without delay, inform the pupil's 'home authority' of the exclusion and the reason(s) for it. The headteacher must notify the LA without delay of any cancelled exclusions, including the reason the exclusion was cancelled.

#### Informing the pupil's social worker and/or virtual school head (VSH):

If a:

- Pupil with a social worker is at risk of suspension or permanent exclusion, the headteacher will inform the social worker as early as possible
- Pupil who is a looked-after child (LAC) is at risk of suspension or exclusion, the headteacher will inform the VSH as early as possible

This is in order to work together to consider what factors may be affecting the pupil's behaviour, and what further support can be put in place to improve the behaviour.

If the headteacher decides to suspend or permanently exclude a pupil with a social worker/a pupil who is looked after, they will inform the pupil's social worker/the VSH, as appropriate, without delay, that:

- They have decided to suspend or permanently exclude the pupil.
- The reason(s) for the decision
- The length of the suspension or, for a permanent exclusion, the fact that it is permanent
- The suspension or permanent exclusion affects the pupil's ability to sit a National Curriculum test or public exam (where relevant)
- They have decided to cancel a suspension or permanent exclusion, and why (where relevant)

The social worker/VSH will be invited to any meeting of the governing board about the suspension or permanent exclusion. This is so they can provide advice on how the pupil's background and/or circumstances that may have influenced the circumstances of their suspension or permanent exclusion. The social worker should also help ensure safeguarding needs and risks and the pupil's welfare are taken into account.

#### **Cancelling suspensions and permanent exclusions:**

The headteacher may cancel a suspension or permanent exclusion that has already begun, or one that has not yet begun, but only where it has not yet been reviewed by the governing board. Where there is a cancellation:

- The parents governing board and LA will be notified without delay.
- Where relevant, any social worker and VSH will be notified without delay.
- The notification must provide the reason for the cancellation.
- The governing board's duty to hold a meeting and consider reinstatement ceases.
- Parents will be offered the opportunity to meet with the headteacher to discuss the cancellation,

which will be arranged without delay.

• The pupil will be allowed back in school without delay

Any days spent out of school as a result of any exclusion, prior to the cancellation, will count towards the maximum of 45 school days permitted in any school year.

A permanent exclusion cannot be cancelled if the pupil has already been suspended for more than 45 school days in a school year or if they will have been so by the time the cancellation takes effect.

#### Providing education during the first 5 days of a suspension or permanent exclusion:

During the first 5 days of a suspension, if the pupil is not attending alternative (AP) provision, the headteacher will take steps to ensure that achievable and accessible work is set and marked for the pupil. Online pathways may be used for this. If the pupil has a special educational need or disability, the headteacher will make sure that reasonable adjustments are made to the provision where necessary.

If the pupil is looked after or if they have a social worker, the school will work with the LA to arrange AP from the first day following the suspension or permanent exclusion. Where this isn't possible, the school will take reasonable steps to set and mark work for the pupil, including the use of online pathways.

#### 16.2 The Governing Board

#### Considering suspensions and permanent exclusions

Responsibilities regarding suspensions and permanent exclusions are delegated to the Head's PA who will organise a committee consisting of at least 3 governors.

The governing board has a duty to consider parents' representations about a suspension or permanent exclusion. It has a duty to consider the reinstatement of a suspended or permanently excluded.

Within 14 days of receiving a request, the governing board will provide the LA with information about any suspensions or exclusions within the last 12 months.

For any suspension of more than 5 school days, the governing board will arrange suitable full-time education for the pupil. This provision will begin no later than the sixth day of the suspension.

The governing board does not have to arrange such provision for pupils in their final year of compulsory education who do not have any further public exams to sit.

#### Monitoring and analysing suspensions and exclusions data.

The governing board will review, challenge and evaluate the data on the school's use of suspension, exclusion, off-site direction to alternative provision, and managed moves.

The governing board will consider:

- How effectively and consistently the school's behaviour policy is being implemented.
- Instances where pupils receive repeat suspensions.
- Interventions in place to support pupils at risk of suspension or permanent exclusion.
- Timing of moves and permanent exclusions, and whether there are any patterns, including any indications which may highlight where policies or support are not working.
- The characteristics of suspended and permanently excluded pupils, and why this is taking place.
- Whether the placements of pupils directed off-site into alternative provision are reviewed at sufficient intervals to assure that the education is achieving its objectives and that pupils are benefiting from it
- The cost implications of directing pupils off-site.

### 16.3 The Local Authority (LA)

For permanent exclusions, the LA will arrange suitable full-time education to begin no later than the sixth school day after the first day of the exclusion.

For pupils who are looked after or have social workers, the LA and the school will work together arrange suitable full-time education to begin from the first day of the exclusion.

## Section 17: Considering the Reinstatement of a Pupil

The governing board will consider and decide on the reinstatement of a suspended or permanently excluded pupil within 15 school days of receiving the notice of the suspension or exclusion if:

- The exclusion is permanent.
- It is a suspension which would bring the pupil's total number of days out of school to more than 15 in a term; or
- It would result in a pupil missing a public exam or National Curriculum test.

The following parties will be invited to a meeting of the governing board and allowed to make representations or share information:

- Parents.
- The pupil, if they are aged 17 or younger and it would be appropriate to their age and understanding (and, where requested, a representative or friend)
- The headteacher
- The pupil's social worker, if they have one.
- The VSH, if the pupil is looked after.

Governing board meetings can be held remotely at the request of parents. See section 9 for more details on remote access to meetings.

The governing board will try to arrange the meeting within the statutory time limits set out above and must try to have it at a time that suits all relevant parties. However, its decision will not be invalid simply on the grounds that it was not made within these time limits.

The governing board:

- Decline to reinstate the pupil, or
- Direct the reinstatement of the pupil immediately, or on a particular date (except in cases where the board cannot do this see earlier in this section)

In reaching a decision the governing board will consider:

- Whether the decision to suspend or permanently exclude was lawful, reasonable, and procedurally fair
- Whether the headteacher followed their legal duties
- The welfare and safeguarding of the pupil and their peers
- Any evidence that was presented to the governing board

They will decide whether or not a fact is true 'on the balance of probabilities'.

The clerk will be present when the decision is made.

Minutes will be taken of the meeting, and a record kept of the evidence that was considered. The outcome will also be recorded on the pupil's educational record, and copies of relevant papers will be kept with this record.

The governing board will notify, in writing, the following stakeholders of its decision, along with reasons for its decision, without delay:

- The parents.
- The headteacher.
- The pupil's social worker, if they have one.
- The VSH, if the pupil is looked after.
- The local authority.
- The pupil's home authority, if it differs from the school's.

Where an exclusion is permanent and the governing board has decided not to reinstate the pupil, the notification of decision will also include the following:

- The fact that it is a permanent exclusion.
- Notice of parents' right to ask for the decision to be reviewed by an independent review panel
- The date by which an application for an independent review must be made (15 school days from the date on which notice in writing of the governing board's decision is given to parents)
- The name and address to which an application for a review and any written evidence should be submitted.
- That any application should set out the grounds on which it is being made and that, where appropriate, it should include reference to how the pupil's special educational needs (SEN) are considered to be relevant to the permanent exclusion.
- That parents must make clear if they wish for an SEN expert to be appointed in any application for a review.
- That parents may, at their own expense, appoint someone to make written and/or oral representations to the panel, and parents may also bring a friend to the review.

## Section 18: Remote Access to Meetings

Parents, can request that a governing board meeting, or independent review panel be held remotely. If the parents don't express a preference, the meeting will be held in person.

In case of extraordinary or unforeseen circumstances, which mean it is not reasonably practicable for the meeting to be held in person, the meeting will be held remotely.

Remotely accessed meetings are subject to the same procedural requirements as in-person meetings.

The governing board should make sure that the following conditions are met before agreeing to let a meeting proceed remotely:

- All the participants have access to the technology which will allow them to hear, speak, see and be seen
- All the participants will be able participate fully
- The remote meeting can be held fairly and transparently

Social workers and the VSH always have the option of joining remotely, whether the meeting is being held in person or not, as long as they can meet the conditions for remote access listed above.

The meeting will be rearranged to an in-person meeting without delay if technical issues arise that can't be reasonably resolved and:

- Compromise the ability of participants to contribute effectively, or
- Prevent the meeting from running fairly and transparently.

## Section 19: Related School Policies

**Equalities Policy** 

Anti-Bullying Policy